Victorian Sweets 
These notes are taken from a training pack written for staff at York Castle Museum working in the re-created Terry’s sweetshop. 
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Our shop is much smaller than the city centre’s first Terry’s sweetshop in St Helen’s Square seen here. 
By 1899 the shop had a first class restaurant and catering business too.
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Sweets were weighed by shop assistants and sold in paper bags or cones. Sometimes chocolates were sold in boxes padded with cotton wool!
The Victorian’s believed that sugar was healthy as well as tasty.
This sweetshop would be very busy and have many different customers; from accompanied children buying their favourite boiled sweets, ladies wanting cough sweets to gentlemen choosing chocolates from selection trays.

York’s many visitors also bought goodies to take away with them.
Sweets were sent overseas for orders in Australia, New Zealand and South Africa too.

Window displays would be kept clean and tidy with new products and services advertised. 

York became famous for making chocolate and sweets well known brands like Terry’s and Rowntrees were eaten all over the world.
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What could I buy?

Pastilles 

Lozenges of many flavours including musk, rose and violet

Lemon, orange and citron peel

Jelly

Marmalade 

Chocolate Cream cakes  
Superior Conversation Lozenges

Superior Pineapple Drops

Superior Damson Drops

Superior Acid Squares

Superior Fairy Rock

Superior Winter Green Squares

Superior Lime Fruit

Very Superior Twisted Barley Sugar
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Superior Strawberry Drops

Superior Orange and Lemon slices

Superior Lime Fruit Drops

Superior Cough Drops

Chocolate Cigars 

Chocolate Drops 

Chocolate Cream Balls 

Chocolate Cream Tablets 

Chocolate Kisses

Chocolate Nougat

Chocolate Caramels

Whipped Chocolate Caramels

Liquorice and Chlorodyne Lozenges

Chocolate Worm Cakes
Smoker’s Silver Cachous
Terry’s Chocolate Greengage
Terry’s Snowballs
Some lozenges had warning labels reading ‘Poison, these lozenges contain belladonna’ or ‘opium’.

[image: image5.jpg]


Biscuits and cakes
York Biscuits 

Pocklington Wigs 
Funeral biscuits 

Macaroons                                                
        

One longstanding lady customer ordered a cake to weigh as much as her age. When she got to 60, it had to be baked in sections and stuck together! 
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How much did sweets cost?

These prices are taken from Terry’s catalogues

Boxes of Chocolate Nougat cost 2/6 per lb
Boxed Chocolate assortments cost 7/6 

Bottle of Mixed drops 6d
Bottle of Acid drops 6d
Bottle of Tangerine and orange drops 6d
Bottle of Raspberry drops 6d
Bottle of Pine drops 6d
Bottle of Mint drops 6d

Bottle of Twisted Barley Sugar 6d
Bottle of Very Superior Mixed drops 6d

Yorkshire Cream Toffee (4 pieces) 1d

Box of Peppermint Creams 6d
Pontefract Cakes 3d

3d and 6d bottles of:
Silver Smokers
Floral gums
Voice pellets

Throat pastilles

Silver comfits

Raspberry Noyeau in 1d bars.

These prices are taken from the Harrod’s catalogue of 1895
Barley Sugar per lb 0/6

Small bottles 0/5 ½

Raspberry/ Pineapple/ Pear drops per 1b 0/5

Lozenges per lb 2/0

Peppermint per lb 1/6

Cachous per oz 0/3

Marzipan sweets 2/6

How would I pay? 
Working out Victorian money 

In Victorian times, money was calculated in pounds, shillings and pence, written £: s: d: 

The ‘d’ written for pence stands for ‘denarius’ which was a Roman coin.
12 pennies (written12d) = 1 shilling (written 1s or 1/-) 

240 pennies (240d) or 20 shillings (20s or 20/-) = £1 
Money had different names: 
⅛ d = half farthing 
¼ d = farthing 
½ d = halfpenny (pronounced “ha’penny”) 
3d = threepence (pronounced “thruppence”) 

4d = groat 

6d = sixpence 

12d = shilling (1/-) 
A shilling was sometimes called a ‘bob’.
2s = florin 

2s 6d (2/6) = half crown 

4s = double florin 

5s = crown 

10s = half sovereign 

£1 = sovereign 

21s (£1 1/-) = guinea 

Paper money included 

10/- note (ten “bob” note) 

£1 note 

£5 note 

£10 note 
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The story of Terry’s 
Joseph Terry was a chemist in York who made medicated lozenges in the 1700s. At this time chemists made lots of their own medicines and coated them in sugar to make them taste better!

Terry wanted to expand his business and branch out so he joined with established sweet makers Bayldon and Berry who had been in business since 1767. 
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By 1830 Joseph Terry owned the whole business. He had a small factory in Brearley Yard and a shop in St Helen’s Square in York.

He sold cakes and comfits, sugar sweets, candid peel, marmalade, mushroom ketchup and medicated lozenges.

Joseph Terry died in 1850 and his son Joseph and his brothers took over.

In 1858 Terry’s bought a site at Clementhorpe and used it for storage, quickly building a factory to make confectionary. 
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Terry’s won medals at exhibitions for their sweets. In 1867 they started making chocolates products and built a chocolate factory in 1886.

They also made cakes and had an icing department in their factory. In 1894 they were asked to make a Christening cake for the First child of the Duke and Duchess of York (later King George V and Queen Mary, the child was Edward VIII and later Duke of Windsor).

Joseph Terry was Sheriff of York and Lord Mayor 4 times. In 1887 he was chosen to represent York at Queen Victoria’s official jubilee celebrations and he was knighted in that year. He died in 1898 and his eldest son Thomas Walker Leaper Terry became governing director.
Terry’s in the 1900s

Chocolate was becoming a more important product for Terry’s but it was not until the 1920’s that chocolate products appeared at the front of their catalogues.

In 1920s a new factory was built on the Bishopthorpe Road. 
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The 20s and 30s were good years for Terry’s, they expanded their factories and number of chocolate products although some of the confectionary lines were dropped.  

King George VI and Queen Elizabeth visited in 1937.
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Sir Francis Terry ran the business from 1923 to 1958, along with his nephew Noel Terry. 

During the Second World War propeller blades were made on part of the site. Devon Milk Chocolate was made from tins of condensed milk and wrapped by hand in paper bags without the usual foil.
By 1963 Terry’s had joined the Forte’s (Holdings) Limited. After that a series of sales and takeovers and a very competitive chocolate market led to closure in 2005 of the factory in York. 
What was it like working at Terry’s?
In 1890 Terry’s had 300 employees working 59 hours a week. They started the day at 6am. In 1894 poor conditions led to a protest petition being handed in.

In 1895 Terry’s had around 200 employees, mostly women and young girls. 
‘Many wore shawls for headgear, and all wore cotton stockings and boots (not shoes).  The majority were on piece work, with a basic wage of 5/- per week.  They normally earned from 12/6 to 17/6 per week.  Ordinary men started at 18/- per week.’
Memoirs of George Battrick 1895-1946
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In 1899 the St Helen’s Square shop was managed by a woman, Miss Holgate.  
Terry's Lozenge Department around1900, courtesy of the Borthwick Institute 
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As the company grew and became more successful there were more benefits for the workers.
They had a sports pavilion, with bowls, and tennis courts. There were fishing, hockey, football, cricket and netball clubs.
Chocolate makers though time 
Rowntree’s 1725
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Rowntree’s started as a small grocer’s shop in York. It was owned by Mary Tuke, a Quaker. 

She passed on her business to her nephew, William Tuke, in 1752.  He carried on the family firm and their ‘Genuine Rock Cocoa’, a mixture of cocoa and sugar, which became very popular. 

Henry Isaac Rowntree, who was also a Quaker, acquired the cocoa side of the company in 1862. 

Within the next two years his company had moved to a larger site at Tanner’s Moat.  

In 1880’s, under Joseph Rowntree’s direction, ‘Rowntree’s Elect Cocoa’ was produced. The company was also making chocolate creams, chocolate drops, and chocolate balls.  In 1890 work started on building the ‘Cocoa Works’ at Haxby Road.

In 1969 Rowntree’s merged with Mackintosh’s to become Rowntree Mackintosh, and in 1988 Rowntree Mackintosh was taken over by Nestlé.

The Rowntree family were active social reformers, and were known as good employers.  

B. Seebohm Rowntree’s reports on the social conditions in York in the late 1800s and early 1900s were ground breaking studies.

The Joseph Rowntree Foundation continues pioneering work of this kind today.

Fry’s 1728

Fry’s began as a confectionery shop in Small Street, Bristol owned by Walter Churchman.  In 1729 Churchman was granted a patent to make drinking chocolate.  

This patent was bought from him in 1761 by a Quaker apothecary - Joseph Fry.  On Joseph’s death in 1787, his wife Anna and his son Joseph Storrs Fry took over.  They decided to step up production of eating chocolate and the company quickly expanded. 

In 1919 Fry’s and Cadbury’s merged but kept product identity.

Craven’s 1800s
Mary Ann Hick was the daughter of a York confectioner who after marrying Thomas Craven in the early part of the 1800s became widowed at 33.  She ran both her father’s and her husband’s businesses with premises in Coppergate, Pavement and Coney Street, York. 

In 1881 her eldest son, Joseph William, joined the company.  The company later moved to their factory at ‘Candyland’ in Low Poppleton Lane, York.  

They were known for their Mary Ann Dairy Toffee and other sweets, with chocolate being mainly provided by continental suppliers such as Van Houten’s, Asbach and Storz.  

Craven’s are now owned by Trebor Basset, part of Cadbury Schweppes.

Cadbury’s 1824

John Cadbury, a Quaker, opened a grocer’s shop at 93, Bull Street, Birmingham in 1824.  

In 1831 he rented a small factory in Crooked Lane, and by 1841 the firm was selling as many as sixteen different varieties of drinking chocolate.  

In 1879 the company bought land outside Birmingham and built a large new factory and a village which they called ‘Bournville’.

By 1880 they were producing hand made chocolates packed in highly decorative boxes, some of them carrying paintings by Richard Cadbury.  

Cadbury’s milk chocolate - based on Swiss chocolate - was first produced in 1897.  ‘Cadbury’s Dairy Milk’ appeared in 1905 and is still the company’s biggest selling brand.

Todays Cadbury’s is owned by Kraft Foods.
York Confectionery Co ltd 1870s

This company specialised in the manufacture of candied peel and mint rock.

Caley’s 1886

In 1932 Mackintosh’s bought the Norwich based firm A. J. Caley and Son Ltd.  

Caley’s had been making chocolates since 1886, and their expertise contributed much to the success of Mackintosh.  The A J Caley name has recently been re-launched, and Caley’s Chocolate is once again appearing on shop shelves.

Mackintosh’s 1890

John Mackintosh and his wife opened a pastry shop in King Cross Lane, Halifax.  

To promote his shop Mackintosh blended a new toffee sold under the title of Mackintosh’s Celebrated Toffee.  

By 1903 the company had expanded and changed premises several times before it built its own factory in Queen’s Road.  

Toffee De Luxe was introduced in 1917 and was available in a number of different flavours, including chocolate coated.  Seven years later the firm introduced Mackintosh Chocolate. 

Quality Street was launched in 1936.  

Thornton’s 1911

Joseph William Thornton opened a sweet shop in Sheffield which was then expanded by his two sons Norman and Stanley Thornton.  

Sweets were first made in the cellar of the shop, but in 1927 they bought a new factory.  

Today Thornton shops are well known for their hand finished chocolates and sweets, which they sell through their own chain of retail shops.

Mars 1932

Forrest Mars founded his company in a small rented factory in Slough in.  

The company was a breakaway from the parent Mars company owned by Forrest Mars’ father which was then based in Chicago, USA.  

At the time the Mars Bar’s combination of nougat, caramel and chocolate was very unusual and proved very popular.
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